Clerk of the Court Received 03/22/2024 03:43 PM Resubmitted 03/22/2024 03:53 PM Filed 03/22/2024 03:53 PM

In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals

POTOMAC PLACE ASSOCIATES, LLC, Appellant

v.

WALTER MENDEZ, ET AL., Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Case No. 2019-LTB-022079 (The Honorable Maurice A. Ross)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT POTOMAC PLACE ASSOCIATES, LLC

*Joshua M. Greenberg, D.C. Bar # 489323
RICHARD W. LUCHS, D.C. Bar # 243931
SPENCER B. RITCHIE, D.C. Bar # 1673542
GREENSTEIN DELORME & LUCHS, P.C.
801 17TH STREET, N.W., SUITE 1000
WASHINGTON, DC 20006
TELEPHONE: (202) 452-1400
FACSIMILE: (202) 452-1410

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether D.C. Code §42-3401.01 *et seq.* (2001) allows the transfer or extension of a qualified low-income elderly head of household's statutory life tenancy to another member of the household?
- B. Whether the Trial Court wrongfully entered summary judgment in favor of Defendants by giving retroactive effect to the Low-Income Disabled Tenant Rental Conversion Protection Amendment Act of 2006?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 12, 2019, Potomac Place issued a 120-Day Notice of Intention to Convert in accordance with the provisions of the Condominium Act, D.C. Code §42-1904.08(b) to the tenants of an apartment that is part of building that converted to condominiums. On July 16, 2019, Potomac Place issued a 30-Day Notice to Vacate to the tenants of the same apartment and which stated a revised and later deadline by when they needed to vacate. The tenants of that apartment (the Defendants below – Walter Mendez and Fernando Castillo) failed to either purchase the apartment or vacate pursuant to a 120-Day Notice of Intention and the 30-Day Notice to Vacate.

On October 3, 2019, Potomac Place filed an action for possession in the Landlord and Tenant Branch of the Superior Court to recover possession of an apartment in a housing accommodation that converted to condominiums in November 2005. *See* JA0001.

On November 19 and 20, 2019, Mr. Mendez and Mr. Castillo filed their respective Answers and Jury Demands. *See id.* The case was certified to the Civil Division pursuant to L&T Rule 6 and assigned to the Honorable Fern Flanagan Saddler. *See id.* A Landlord & Tenant Track Scheduling Order was entered. *See id.*

The case then fell victim to the COVID-19 pandemic and sat idle for an extended period. *See id.* A Status Hearing was held on June 9, 2021, and the Court ordered the parties to confer and submit a modified proposed scheduling order. *See id.* On July 1, 2021, the parties submitted a Dispositive Motion Briefing schedule. *See id.*

On August 3, 2021, Potomac Place filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, which was opposed on September 3, 2021, by Mr. Mendez in an Opposition and Cross-Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice. Potomac Place's Reply was filed on October 3, 2021. *See id.*

On December 31, 2021, the case was transferred to the Honorable Maurice A. Ross and on January 17, 2022, Judge Saddler entered an Order denying the

motions indicating the belief there were disputed material facts preventing granting summary judgment in favor of either party. *See id.; see also* JA 0019

On April 26, 2022, the parties filed a Joint Motion to File Renewed Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment, which Judge Ross granted on May 2, 2022. *See id.*

On May 20, 2022, Potomac Place filed its Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment; on June 24, 2022, Mr. Mendez filed his consolidated Opposition and Cross-Motion to Dismiss; and on June 27, 2022, Potomac Place filed its Reply. *See id*.

Oral arguments on the cross-motions were heard by Judge Ross on September 2, 2022, at the conclusion of which Judge Ross denied Potomac Place's Motion for Summary Judgment. *See* JA 0022. Judge Ross concurrently denied Mr. Mendez's Cross-Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that an opposition was not the proper vehicle to seek affirmative relief. *See id*.

Subsequently, Mr. Mendez filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which was granted by a skeletal written Order dated March 9, 2023, followed later that same day by the entry of an Order of Judgment. *See id.*; *see also* JA 0040 and JA 0042. The Order granting summary judgment gives no analysis of the issues presented in the briefing by either party. *See id*.

This appeal followed.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. THE CONDOMINIUM CONVERSION PROCESS

1. ELIGIBILITY TO CONVERT

In 2005, Potomac Place initiated the process to convert the subject housing accommodation to a condominium regime. The first step in the conversion process for the owner of a tenanted property is to file a request for a tenant election. *See* D.C. Code §42-3402.03(a). Either the housing provider or a duly organized tenant association conducts the conversion election supervised by the District of Columbia. *See* D.C. Code §42-3402.03(c). If over fifty percent of qualified voters (as determined by the Mayor) vote in favor of conversion, the process continues. *See* D.C. Code §42-3402.03(i). The term "qualified voter" is defined in D.C. Code §42-3402.03(d) (2001), and states, as pertinent:

(d) Qualified voter. – A <u>head of household</u> residing in each rental unit of the housing accommodation is qualified to vote. . . <u>unless he or she is a head of household whose continued right to remain a tenant is required by this chapter</u>.

(emphasis added).

¹ At the time of the Conversion Election, administration of the Act fell to the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs' Condominium and Cooperative Conversion and Sales Branch ("CCCSB"). Currently, administration of the Act is under the purview of the Department of Housing and Community Development's Rental Conversion and Sale Division ("RCSD"). To avoid confusion, and where appropriate, the term "DC Condo Agency" shall refer to, as the case may be, CCCSB or RCSD.

The Act recognizes only one head of household for each rental unit and any statutorily protected status ties to that specific, identified, head of household. *See* D.C. Code §42-3402.03(d) (2001); *see also* D.C. Code §42-3401.03(10) (defining "head of household").

2. **REGISTRATION**

Once the conversion election results are certified and the conversion is approved, the next step is to register the condominium regime. *See* D.C. Code §42-1904.04. The declarant must submit a Public Offering Statement ("POS") to the DC Condo Agency for its review and approval. *See id.* The POS consists of two parts: (1) a narrative portion; and (2) an exhibit portion. *See* D.C. Code §42-1904.04(a)(4) - (5). The narrative portion is intended to summarize significant features of the condominium and present other information of interest to prospective purchasers. *See id.* The exhibit portion includes legal documents required for the operation of the condominium association (e.g., bylaws). *See id.* Upon the DC Condo Agency's approval of the POS, it issues a Condominium Registration Order, and the owner of the newly established condominium regime may now take sales contracts on individual units. *See* D.C. Code §42-1904.06.

3. RECORDATION

The final step of the condominium conversion process is: (i) recordation of the Condominium Declaration and Bylaw exhibits from the approved POS with the

Recorder of Deeds; (ii) recordation of the Condominium Plat and Plans with the Office of the Surveyor; and (iii) assignment of tax lot numbers to each individual condominium unit and parking unit by the Office of Tax and Revenue. *See* D.C. Code §42-1902.05. After this final step is complete, the owner of the condominium regime may sell the individual units to tenants and the public at large. *See* D.C. Code §42-1904.02(a).

4. SALE OF CONDOMINIUM UNITS

Once these three steps are satisfied, and at the time that the condominium units are offered for sale, the tenants of the newly established condominium regime have the option to purchase their respective dwelling units. *See* D.C. Code §42-1904.08(b). The law provides in pertinent part:

- (1) The declarant shall give each of the tenants...at least 120 days notice of the conversion before any such tenant or subtenant may be served with notice to vacate....
- (2) During the first 60 days of the 120-day notice period, each of the tenants who entered into an agreement with declarant...shall have the exclusive right to contract for the purchase of such apartment unit....
- (3) If the notice of conversion specifies a date by which the apartment unit shall be vacated, then such notice shall constitute and be the equivalent of a valid statutory notice to vacate....

See id. §42-1904.08(b).

The effect of this provision is that if a tenant fails to purchase their dwelling unit, the tenant must vacate the property upon expiration of the valid statutory notice to vacate. This is essential to the function of the statute because the dwelling unit will no longer be a rental unit – it will be sold by the declarant as a condominium unit.

B. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

By lease dated June 1, 2004 (the "Lease"), Walter Mendez ("Mr. Mendez") and his mother, Teresa Aparicio ("Ms. Aparicio"), became tenants of Apartment N720 (the "Apartment") in the multi-family apartment building owned by Potomac Place located at 800 4th Street, S.W. (the "Building"). *See* JA 0043.

In 2005, following negotiations between Potomac Place and the Building's tenant association, Potomac Place began the condominium conversion process.

On November 28, 2005, the Building's tenant association held an election pursuant to D.C. Code §42-3402.03 (2001) (the "Conversion Election") and a majority of qualified tenants voted in favor of converting the Building to condominiums. *See* JA0053. The Conversion Election was conducted and supervised by CCCSB and, on November 30, 2005, CCCSB certified the results of the Conversion Election. *See id.* CCCSB's Conversion Election Results letter identified the ten tenants who qualified as low-income elderly and whose continued right to remain a tenant was required by D.C. Code §42-3402.08(a)

(2001). *See id.* Ms. Aparicio was one of the listed qualified low-income elderly tenants.² *See id.* Neither Mr. Mendez nor Mr. Castillo were identified anywhere in CCCSB's Conversion Election Results Letter. *See id.* The "term 'elderly tenant' means a head of household who is 62 years of age or older. The number of elderly tenants qualifying under this section is that number on the day an owner requests a tenant election for purposes of conversion." D.C. Code §42-3402.08(c) (2001) (emphasis added).

The Potomac Place Tower Condominium was registered effective May 10, 2006, recorded promptly thereafter.

Since Ms. Aparicio was a protected low-income elderly tenant, Potomac Place did not and could not at the time issue a 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert for the Apartment. *See* Mot. for Summ J. (May 23, 2022) at Exhibit 4 (Affidavit of Mr. Russell Hines). Ms. Aparicio's and Mr. Mendez' tenancy continued uninterrupted for the next 13 years until January 23, 2019, when Ms. Aparicio passed away. *See* JA 0052.

-

² Neither Mr. Mendez nor Mr. Castillo were identified anywhere in CCCSB's Conversion Election Results Letter. *See id.* Mr. Castillo did not move into the Apartment until <u>after Ms.</u> Aparicio's death and was never added to the lease as a tenant or authorized occupant. Throughout the proceedings before the Trial Court, Mr. Mendez asserted that Mr. Castillo was his "night and weekend" home health aide.

On April 17, 2019, Potomac Place served Mr. Mendez and Mr. Castillo with a 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert and provided the 60-day exclusivity period to enter into a contract to purchase the Apartment. *See* JA 0063. The 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert expressly stated that Mr. Mendez and Castillo had a 60-day exclusivity period to contract to purchase the Apartment and that if they did not enter into a purchase agreement, they were required to quit and vacate the Apartment by no later than August 10, 2019. *Id*.

Neither Mr. Mendez nor Mr. Castillo entered into a purchase agreement, either during the 60-day exclusivity period or at any point thereafter. *See* Mot. for Summ J. (May 23, 2022) at Exhibit 4 (Affidavit of Mr. Russell Hines). In addition to the 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert which contained a deadline by which they were to vacate, Potomac Place also served Mr. Mendez and Mr. Castillo with a stand-alone 30-Day Notice to Vacate which provided a new and extended vacate date of August 31, 2019. *See* JA 0104.

When neither Mr. Mendez nor Mr. Castillo vacated the Apartment by August 31, 2019, Potomac Place filed a complaint for possession of the Apartment in the Landlord & Tenant Branch of the Superior Court. *See* JA 0013.

Mr. Mendez and Mr. Castillo remain in possession of the Apartment today.

V. APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court's interpretation of statutes "presents a question of law that [this Court] consider[s] *de novo. See Aziken v. District of Columbia*, 194 A.3d 31, 34 (D.C. 2018). This Court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment *de novo* and applies the same standard as the trial court did when considering the motion for summary judgment. *Id*; *see also Sears v. Catholic Archdiocese of Washington*, 5 A.3d 653, 657 (D.C. 2010). The Court must determine whether the party awarded summary judgment demonstrated that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *See George Washington University v. Bier*, 946 A.2d 372, 375 (D.C. 2008).

The Trial Court's order granting Mr. Mendez's motion for summary judgment provides no findings of facts or conclusions of law and merely refers to the "entire record," which naturally includes its legal analysis from the hearing on Potomac Place's Motion for Summary Judgment held on September 9, 2022. *See* JA 0086. The Trial Court's analysis resulting in denial of Potomac Place's Motion for Summary Judgment was a purely legal analysis based on statutory interpretation. *See* JA 0068.

Remand to the Trial Court is inappropriate as this is a clear case about which parties' interpretation of the statute is correct. As Potomac Place shows below, the

only way Mr. Mendez prevails is if the 2006 amendments to the Act are given retroactive effect in spite of no clear language providing for retroactivity.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is about applying the plain language of the statute in force at the time of the Conversion Election – November 28, 2005. The outcome of this appeal is governed by this Court's decision in *Redman v. Potomac Place Associates LLC*, 972 A.2d 316 (D.C. 2009).

In November 2005, Mr. Mendez was <u>ineligible</u> under the then current legislative scheme to claim a statutorily protected tenancy. Ms. Aparicio, on the other hand, was eligible to claim such protections and, accordingly, was designated the head of household for the Apartment. Upon confirmation of her eligibility as low-income elderly by CCCSB, Ms. Aparicio was a protected tenant and she and Mr. Mendez's tenancy in the Apartment continued without interruption for 13 years. At no point during Ms. Aparicio's lifetime did Potomac Place serve either she or Mr. Mendez a 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert or a 30-Day Notice to Vacate.

When Ms. Aparicio passed away, the statutory life tenancy and protections from eviction afforded by her status as a low-income elderly tenant expired. It was only at this time that Potomac Place served Mr. Mendez and Mr. Castillo with a

120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert and a 30-Day Notice to Vacate was properly issued. *See* JA 0065 and JA 0104.

Mr. Mendez cannot identify any portion of the Act in existence either on the Conversion Election date (November 28, 2005) or in the Act as subsequently amended, which transfers or extends a qualified low-income elderly tenant's (who is by definition the head of household, *see* D.C. Code §42-3402.08(c)), statutory tenancy and protections from eviction to another member of that protected tenant's household.

Indeed, the City Council recognized that low-income residents could be displaced by a condominium conversion and included provisions for such impacted tenants to receive relocation assistance (D.C. Code §42-3403.02); relocation services (D.C. Code §42-3403.03); and housing assistance payments (D.C. Code §42-3403.04). If this Court were to affirm the Trial Court, it would be giving subsequent amendments to the Act retroactive application – something not contemplated by the plain language of the Act's amendments. Extending protections unique to Ms. Aparicio based on her status on the date of the Conversion Election to Mr. Mendez as the Trial Court did below improperly creates a new class of protected tenants out of whole cloth – co-tenants who are ineligible for statutory protections on the date of the condominium conversion election assume or obtain the rights of the qualified head of household. This

interpretation is far outside the scope of the Act and materially interferes with the antecedent property rights of Potomac Place. This Court should apply the plain language of the Act objectively to this matter and, in doing so, hold that Mr. Mendez: (i) was not eligible to claim the protections in place at the time of the Conversion Election related to low-income elderly; and (ii) cannot claim the protections for low-income disabled that were added in 2006, nearly a year after the Conversation Election.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. MR. MENDEZ WAS NOT A PROTECTED TENANT AT THE TIME OF THE CONVERSION AND ACCORDINGLY CANNOT CLAIM THE PROTECTIONS OF THE ACT

It is indisputable that at the time of the Conversion Election, Mr. Mendez was <u>not</u> a protected low-income elderly tenant within the meaning of D.C. Code §42-3402.08 (2001) nor could he qualify to be one. Mr. Mendez was not "62 years of age or older" with an "annual income, as determined by the Mayor, of less than \$40,000 per year." *See* D.C. Code §42-3402.08(a) and (c) (2001). Accordingly, Mr. Mendez standing on his own was <u>not</u> entitled to the statutory protections from eviction or receiving a notice to vacate as they each relate to the condominium conversion.

Ms. Aparicio <u>did</u> qualify as a low-income elderly tenant and was entitled to protection from eviction or receiving a notice to vacate, subject to three limited exceptions. *See* D.C. Code §42-3402.08(a)(1) - (3) (2001).

These protections found in D.C. Code §42-3402.08 are personal to the qualified heads of households as of the date of the condominium conversion election. At the time of the Conversion Election, such protections only covered those heads of household the Mayor qualified as low-income elderly. In other words, the qualified protections were personal to Ms. Aparicio only, not to Mr. Mendez. Ms. Aparicio was the head of household, not Mr. Mendez; Ms. Aparicio was low-income elderly, not Mr. Mendez. Mr. Mendez, as a co-tenant on the lease, benefited from the protections afforded to Ms. Aparicio in that her tenancy could not be terminated during her life without her consent (e.g., voluntarily vacating; passing away) or for the narrow exceptions stated in D.C. Code §42-3402.08(a)(1) - (3) (2001) (non-payment of rent; breach of obligation of tenancy and failure to cure within 30-day cure period; and judicial determination that the tenant committed an illegal act in the apartment or housing accommodation); but only for as long as Ms. Aparicio remained in the Apartment.

For 13 years, Mr. Mendez benefited from the protections afforded to Ms. Aparicio due to her low-income elderly status by being able to continue to reside in the Apartment, but he was never vested with Ms. Aparicio's right to remain for the

duration of <u>his</u> life. When Ms. Aparicio died on January 23, 2019, so too did her statutory life tenancy, and Mr. Mendez was no different than any other tenant without a statutory life tenancy.

B. REDMAN V. POTOMAC PLACE ASSOCIATES LLC, 972 A.2D 316 (D.C. 2009), MANDATES REVERSAL AND ENTRY OF JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF POTOMAC PLACE

This Court's decision in *Redman v. Potomac Place Associates LLC*, 972 A.2d 316 (D.C. 2009), is directly on point and, therefore, mandates a consistent outcome in this appeal. *Redman* involves: (i) the same housing accommodation; (ii) the same condominium conversion election; and (iii) the same arguments about the inapplicability of the 2006 amendments that added "disabled tenants" to those tenants protected from eviction.

As eloquently stated in *Redman*, "[t]he major issue before us in this appeal is whether Ms. Redman was protected from eviction as a 'disabled tenant." *Redman*, 972 A.2d at 318. The answer in *Redman* was no and the same logic applies here.

Mr. Mendez was not certified as a low-income disabled tenant as of the date of the Conversion Election for one simple reason – no such classification existed on November 28, 2005. *See* D.C. Code §42-3402.08(c)(1) (2007) ("an elderly or disabled tenant shall qualify under this subchapter if, on the day a tenant election is

<u>held for the purposes of conversion</u>, the elderly or disabled tenant [meets the listed qualifications]") (underlined emphasis added).

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