No. 23-CV-271



Clerk of the Court Received 04/22/2024 01:46 PM Resubmitted 04/22/2024 02:21 PM Filed 04/22/2024 02:21 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

POTOMAC PLACE ASSOCIATES, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

WALTER MENDEZ, ET AL.,

Appellees.

On Appeal from Final Order of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia

Case No. 2019-LTB-0022079 (The Honorable Maurice A. Ross)

Redacted Brief of Appellee Walter Mendez

Ramona Quillet (No. 989186) Office of the Tenant Advocate 2000 14th Street, NW, Suite 300-N Washington, D.C. 20009 Telephone: (202) 719-6560 Fax: (202) 719-6586 Email: <u>ramona.quillet@dc.gov</u> *Counsel for Walter Mendez*

Rule 28(a)(2)(A) Statement

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The housing provider failed to serve Walter Aparicio Mendez with a valid notice to vacate under the Rental Housing Act of 1985 and the Rental Conversion and Sale Act of 1980.³ Evictions of residential tenants in the District of Columbia are governed by the Rental Housing Act of 1985.⁴ All evictions require the housing provider to serve the tenant with a written notice to vacate which states at least one of the enumerated grounds for eviction. Without a valid written notice to vacate a housing provider's complaint for possession cannot succeed, and the case must be dismissed.

The death of Tenant Mendez's mother and co-leaseholder Teresa Aparicio triggered the housing provider to issue a notice to vacate in 2019. As death of a co-tenant is not a recognized grounds for eviction, the housing provider cited the property's almost fifteen-year-old condominium conversion as the basis for the eviction. Complaint; D.C. Code 42-3505.01(j).

Specifically, the housing provider sent Tenant Mendez a 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert followed by a 30-Day Notice to Vacate in 2019. However, there

³ Codified at D.C. Code § 42-3501.01, *et seq.*, and D.C. Code § 42-3401.01, *et seq.*, respectively.

⁴The Rental Housing Act's eviction provisions are codified at D.C. Code § 42-3505.01.

was no impending conversion to prompt the issuance of a 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert; the property had already been converted to a condominium regime in <u>2006</u>. Appellant's Brief p. 8. The Court cannot conclude (1) that death of a coleaseholder is a statutorily supported basis for eviction under the Rental Housing Act and the Conversion and Sale Act or (2) that, after a completed condominium conversion, a housing provider can indefinitely delay a 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert to spring on surviving tenants upon the death of the head of household.

For the above reasons, the housing provider could not serve a legally valid 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert on April 17, 2019 or the 30-Day Notice to Quit on July 16, 2019. The Trial Court denied housing provider's motion for summary judgment, granted Tenant Mendez's motion for summary judgment, and "ordered the Plaintiff's complaint...is **DISMISSED** for failure to give proper notice." (emphasis in original). This Court should affirm on the same basis.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Interpretation of statutes presents a question of law that this Court considers *de novo. See Cherry v. District of Columbia*, 164 A.3d 922, 925 (D.C. 2017). This court also reviews a grant of summary judgment *de novo*, applying the same standard as the trial court in considering the motion for summary judgment. *See District of Columbia v. District of Columbia Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 963 A.2d 1144, 1155 (D.C. 2009). A party is entitled to summary judgment if, when the facts are viewed "in the light most favorable to the non-moving party … there [are] no genuine issue[s] of material fact and [] the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56 (c); *Hosp. Temps Corp. v. District of Columbia*, 926 A.2d 131, 134 (D.C. 2007).

ARGUMENT

I. The Death of a Co-Leaseholder is Not a Legally Recognized Grounds for Eviction

The death of Teresa Aparicio triggered the current action. Appellant's Brief p. 11-12 ("When Ms. Aparicio passed away...Potomac Place served Mr. Mendez...with a 120-Day Notice to Intent to Convert and a 30-Day Notice to

Vacate). However, there is no provision in the Rental Housing Act of 1985^5 or the Rental Conversion and Sale Act of 1980^6 that permits the eviction of a lawful tenant due to the death of a co-lessee. A comprehensive list of legally recognized grounds for eviction of a residential tenant in the District of Columbia is enumerated in D.C. Code § 42-3505.01. The statute begins, "[e]xcept as provided in this section, no tenant shall be evicted from a rental unit, notwithstanding the expiration of the tenant's lease or rental agreement, so long as the tenant continues to pay the rent…No tenant shall be evicted from a rental unit for any reason unless the tenant has been served with a written notice which meets the requirements of this section." D.C. Code § 42-3505.01 (a)(1).

The list of acceptable notices to vacate cover everything from violation of a lease obligation to demolition of the unit, but there is no mention of the death of a co-tenant. The relevant canon of statutory construction is *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, meaning "when a legislature makes express mention of one thing, the exclusion of others is implied, because there is an inference that all omissions should be understood as exclusions." *McCray v. McGee*, 504 A.2d 1128, 1130

⁵ The Rental Housing Act's eviction provisions are codified at D.C. Code § 42-3505.01. Key portions of the Rental Housing Act are reproduced in the Rule 28(f) Statutory Addendum.

⁶ The Rental Conversion and Sale Act of 1980 is codified at D.C. Code § 42-3401, *et seq*. Key portions of the 2001 and current Conversion and Sale Act are reproduced in the Rule 28(f) Statutory Addendum.

(D.C. 1986) (internal quotation and citations omitted). The housing provider could not provide a legally enforceable notice to vacate to Tenant Mendez on the basis of Ms. Aparicio's death.

II. Co-Leaseholder Teresa Aparicio Was a Protected Tenant and Could Not Be Forced to Buy or Vacate under D.C. Code § 42-3505.01(j).

In this case, at the time of the election, Teresa Aparicio and her son Walter Aparicio Mendez were co-lessees on a joint and several lease. JA0089. Teresa Aparicio was the head of household and was certified as being low-income elderly. JA0108. All parties agree that Teresa Aparicio was a statutorily protected tenant under CSA Section 208. Appellant's Brief p. 8. She could not be evicted for any reasons listed in the Rental Housing Act except the three identified in Section 208. D.C. Code § 42-3402.08(a) (2001). The parties agree that while she was alive those protections applied to the entire household. Appellant's Brief at Appellant's Brief p. 11. The parties disagree about the effect of her death on these statutory protections against eviction as they apply to Tenant Mendez.

A. The Requirement to Buy or Vacate under D.C. Code § 42-3505.01(j) is Triggered by Conversion to Condominium Not Death of Head of Household.

Where other tenants must buy or vacate during a condominium conversion pursuant to DC Code § 42-3505.01(j), housing providers are prohibited from sending protected tenants a notice to vacate on those grounds. Instead, the Council listed the only three reasons why the housing provider could "evict or send notice to vacate" to a protected tenant after a successful conversion election: (1) violation of a lease obligation; (2) performance of an illegal act on the property; or (3) failure to pay rent. DC Code § 42-3402.08(a)(2001). None of those three reasons are present in this case. Missing from that all-inclusive list is a change to household composition affecting eligibility criteria. Also, missing from that list are the 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert and the 30-Day Notice to Quit for failure to purchase after the death of the head of household.

The housing provider presumes that the buy or vacate option of DC Code § 42-3505.01(j) is available in perpetuity and can be invoked upon the death of the elderly, low-income head of household. JA0076. However, that reading is not supported by either statute. For example, D.C. Code § 42-3505.01(j) reads, "where the housing provider seeks...to convert the rental unit or housing accommodation to a condominium or cooperative," implying that the conversion is imminent. Likewise, D.C. Code § 42-3402.06(c) references the "notice of *intention* to convert" (emphasis added). Further, the Notice of Intent to Convert ties the timing of the notice to the application for registration of conversion – which pre-dates the actual conversion. D.C. Code § 42-1904.08(b) ("notice of conversion shall be given no sooner than 10 days after the date the declarant's application for registration of the condominium units is approved."). In the present case, the property was registered as a condominium effective May 10, 2006, and the 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert was initially given to eligible tenants on May 23, 2006. Appellant's Brief p. 8; *Redman v. Potomac Place Assoc. LLC*, 972 A.2d 316, 317 (D.C. 2009). The 120-Day Notice of Intent to Convert served on Defendant Mendez in 2019 is untimely for a conversion that happened in 2006, and there has been no second condominium conversion or re-conversion that would trigger a new notice of *intent* to convert.

B. A Joint and Several Tenancy Is Not Severed by a Condominium Conversion.

Teresa Aparicio and her son, Tenant Mendez were "jointly and severally, lessee" according to their 2004 lease agreement. JA0089. Under the terms of the lease, they had an identical, undivided interest in their rental unit. To evict one of them, the housing provider would necessarily have to evict the other. Nothing in the CSA or conversion process voided the lease or severed the co-tenancy into two separate leaseholds. Moreover, the 2004 Aparicio Mendez Lease Agreement even specifies that it only automatically terminates upon the death of both tenants: "Walter Mendez and Teresa Aparicio (jointly and severally, 'Lessee')" and "Lease shall automatically terminate upon Lessee's death." JA0089 Lease preamble; JA0090 Lease para. 6.

Accordingly, the tenancy has survived Ms. Aparicio's passing, under the same terms and conditions as existed prior to her death. If Teresa Aparicio became a protected tenant with a guaranteed life tenancy, her co-lessee is entitled to the same. If Tenant Mendez was protected against eviction due to condominium conversion before her death then he remains protected now.

C. Continued Household Eligibility Is Not Required by Statute

The protections of Section 208 only require the Rental Conversion and Sale Division ("CASD"), the regulatory body that oversees CSA compliance and enforcement, to make an initial determination of eligibility at the time of the conversion election. Appellant's Brief p. 4. CASD does not take a household census at the time of the conversion and has no records of non-head of household members names, ages, or disability status. Furthermore, Section 208 has no provision requiring tenant recertification of eligibility after the conversion election.⁷

As housing provider explains, "once the tenant election for conversion occurs and is certified by the Mayor, the owner's and the tenants' expectations are fixed." Pl. Mot. for Summ. J. p. 10. Housing provider acknowledges that the time of the conversion election is the critical moment for determining tenants' eligibility and argues that tenants cannot gain a protected status that they did not possess at the time of the conversion election. Appellants Brief p. 13.

⁷ Compared to continuing recertification requirements for housing affordability programs like the Housing Choice Voucher Program, Low-income Housing Tax Program, Affordable Dwelling Units, etc.

The inverse is also true: tenants who qualify as protected tenants at the time of the conversion election cannot lose their protection based on a change in circumstance that occurs after the conversion election. For example, a tenant who is low-income elderly at the time of the election and becomes a protected tenant would remain protected from eviction due to conversion even if they subsequently inherited millions or won the Powerball jackpot. Likewise, under the current version of the statute, a tenant who has a disability at the time of the election and becomes a statutorily protected tenant would remain protected from eviction due to conversion even if they subsequently were healed of their disability.

Likewise, the death of an elderly co-leaseholder should not remove the protected tenant status from a household. The death of an elderly tenant is a logical outcome that could not be ignored or overlooked when the Council was crafting legislation for households with an elderly head of household. In other words, the omission of the head of household's death as a legally recognized basis for eviction was a deliberate choice and not a "failure to anticipate (or reluctance to list) every far-flung hypothetical that could arise under a legal regime". *Odeniran v. Hanley Wood*, LLC, 985 A.2d 421, 427 (D.C. 2009).

In this case, at the time of the election, Teresa Aparicio and her son were protected tenants. The death of Tenant Mendez's mother – fourteen years after the conversion election and thirteen years after the condominium conversion – cannot strip him of that protection and convert him from a lawful tenant to an unprotected tenant at sufferance.

Any other interpretation would create a new housing provider "right to audit" that is not mentioned in the statute or legislative history and would require CASD to create the necessary procedures and forms to both capture the entire household composition at the time of the conversion election and to monitor the household's status indefinitely.

III. The Protection Against Eviction by Reason of Conversion Extended to Teresa Aparicio's Son and Co-Leaseholder under the 2001 version of the CSA.

Housing Provider insists that the relevant version of CSA Section 208 was the one in effect at the time of the conversion election. Appellant's Brief p. 11. Housing provider argues that the protection belongs solely to the low-income elderly head of household and is terminated by the death of the head of household. *Id.* This narrow interpretation is not required by the plain language of the text and is in direct opposition to the statute's stated purpose and findings.

A. The Conversion and Sale Act Should Be Interpreted Liberally Like the Rental Housing Act.

This court discussed the proper interpretation of the Rental Housing Act's eviction protections in *Administrator of Veterans Affairs v. Valentine*, 490 A.2d 1165 (1985). In *Valentine*, the court held that even though the new owner of the

property never accepted the tenant's rent, the owner was still a landlord within the meaning of the act and could only evict the tenant for reasons specified in the Rental Housing Act. *Id.* at 1170. As this court explained in that case, the Rental Housing Act "evinces an intent to protect from evictions persons who *have been renting* apartments and who continue to pay the rent." (emphasis in original) *Id.* The court explained in the context of the Rental Housing Act "terms like 'landlord,' 'tenant,' and 'rental unit' are not to be understood solely according to the technical precepts of real property law," stating "[t]hese definitions cannot be read in isolation from the rest of the statute." *Id.* at 1169-70. The court explained "the eviction restrictions of [the Rental Housing Act] are only part of a comprehensive legislative scheme to protect the rights of tenants and therefore *must be construed liberally*." (emphasis added) *Id.* at 1168.

Valentine references a previous version of the Rental Housing Act, which has only expanded over time. The findings and purpose of the current version of the RHA mirror those of the CSA. Both statutes include in the "Findings" that there is a "housing crisis in the District of Columbia." D.C. Code § 42-3501.01(9); D.C. Code § 42-3401.01(a)(1) (2001); and D.C. Code § 42-3401.01(a)(1). Likewise, the shared purposes of both statutes are the protection of affordable housing and prevention of the displacement of tenants. D.C. Code § 42-3501.02(4) and (5); D.C. Code § 42-3401.02(1)-(3) (2001); and D.C. Code § 42-3401.02(1)-(3). Given the shared intent, the two statutes should be interpreted similarly. *See Valentine*, 490 A.2d at FN 5, (referring to the CSA, "[t]he purposes of this chapter favor resolution of ambiguity by the hearing officer or a court toward the end of strengthening the legal rights of tenants or tenant organizations to the maximum extent possible under the law.").

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